IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-609 & 22-610

SCA EFiled: Oct 21 2022 06:30PM EDT Transaction ID 68290192

DONALD BURACKER, JAY LONGERBEAM, *Plaintiff, Below, Respondent*

Vs.)

20-C-37 & 20-C-52 (Jefferson County)

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY Defendant, Below, Petitioner.

CONSOLIDATED PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for the Petitioners,

Christian J. Riddell, Esquire WV Bar #12202 The Riddell Law Group 329 S. Queen Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 (304)267-3949 mail@theriddelllawgroup.com

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case revolves around concerted efforts by Shepherd University personnel to retaliate and discriminate against two Shepherd University Police Officers for various protected activities, including filing previous grievances alleging wrongdoing and age discrimination, making disclosures of waste and wrongdoing, and attempting to enforce state laws against the wishes of Shepherd leadership, (such as DUI's, underage consumption, drug use, etc), as required by their oaths of office as police officers. The retaliation against Petitioners began immediately after Petitioner Buracker prevailed in before the West Virginia Public Employee Grievance Board in a decision issued on April 30, 2018, wherein he had alleged violations of W.Va. Code § 18B-7-3(e) and age discrimination, and culminated in Respondent engineering a number of disciplinary

¹ Petitioners' Assignments of Error in this case relate to the improper dismissal of specific causes of action by the Circuit Court. However, for organizations sake, Petitioner has, in the body of its Argument, included an additional point of argument specifically related to the Court's erroneous findings as to pretext, which relates to all other assignments of error enumerated above. Petitioners believe this organization structure will best guide the Court in reviewing this matter, but does not intend to allege a separate assignment of error related to pretext, as the pretext issues cannot rationally be separated from the other assignments of error alleged herein.

pseudo-hearings where multiple pretextual reasons were given for the termination of Petitioner Buracker and his partner, Petitioner Longerbeam, none of which held up to scrutiny during depositions. Petitioner's were formally terminated in May of 2019.

More specifically, the above described grievance filed by Petitioner Buracker alleged that Respondent Shepherd University had created false and arbitrary "minimum requirements" for a full time Campus Police Investigator Position in order circumvent the hiring requirements of § 18B-7-3(e), which, at the time, required that current part time police officers at an institution of higher education be given priority in full-time job selection. See Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment against Donald Buracker ("Buracker Motion"), Exhibit C (Appendix Record "AR" p. 541) Petitioner Buracker alleged during his hearing that this maneuver was used to allow Respondent to engage in age discrimination in the hiring of officers, and specifically pointed to a newspaper article which had come out on the individual hired over Petitioner, Zachary Ray, of whom Chief McAvoy had specifically remarked was chosen in part because of his age. See Buracker Motion, Exhibit K (Appendix Record "AR" p 606.) The Grievance board ultimately agreed that Shepherd had violated the provisions of 18B-7-3(e) and that "Grievant demonstrated that Respondent acted in an arbitrary and capricious [manner] in its refusal to substitute his experience for the educational requirement, and that as the only remaining internal applicant, he should have been offered the position at issue." Buracker Motion, Exhibit C (AR pg. 541), at Conclusions of Law $\P 4$.

Thereafter, Petitioners alleged that they were then subject to an ongoing and continuous pattern of adverse, discriminatory, and retaliatory treatment by the Shepherd University administration and the police department. Buracker alleged that these retaliations included: (a) Being told by his superior, Chief McAvoy, that he was now McAvoy's nemesis; (b) Being kept

at the lowest level of seniority despite his many years of experience; (c) Receiving disparate treatment compared to other officers in terms of responsibilities; and (d) Receiving disparate treatment in terms of discipline. *See Amended Complaint*, Appendix Record (AR pg. 17), ¶¶ 18 & 19 p.).

Following their terminations, a Complaint and Amended Complaint was filed jointly by the Petitioners before the Jefferson County Circuit Court, wherein Buracker claimed to have been "treated in a disparate manner from younger officers by being held to different, more stringent standards of discipline and different, more stringent responsibilities." *Id.* at ¶ 20. Buracker further alleged that, during this time, he made "numerous disclosures of inappropriate activity," including:

- a. That Shepherd University had police officers who were making arrests and issuing citations who had never taken their oath of office as required by law;
- b. That Shepherd University had arranged for an extrajudicial process with a local magistrate whereby Shepherd University students who had been charged with misdemeanors would be placed on an alternate, extrajudicial disciplinary procedure;
- c. That the Mayor of Shepherdstown would regularly intercede in criminal prosecutions on behalf of Shepherd University students, particularly athletes.
- *d.* That Shepherd university employees were violating state ethics laws by misappropriating state resources.
- e. That Shepherd University instructs its officers not to enforce state law as to certain infractions, particularly in regards to athletes and athletic events;
- f. That Shepherd University directly interfered with service of state issued warrants, particularly on behalf of athletes.

Id. at ¶ 23.

Plaintiff Longerbeam, for his part, alleged in the Amended Complaint that he had also made disclosures of wrongdoing in the form complaining about the extra judicial process between Magistrate Boober and Shepherd known as the "shepherd deal" to the administrative head of Shepherd University Police, Holly Frye (*Id.* at ¶¶ 33, 34), as well as making disclosures of wrongdoing and waste at his February 6, 2019 meeting related to the mismanagement of the Shepherd University Police Department. *Id.* at ¶ 36. He further stated that he had been

"repeatedly reprimanded for attempting to enforce state law, and his unwillingness to allow Shepherd University students to break the law with impunity directly contributed to Shepherd's decision to terminate him." *Id.* at ¶38. He further claimed that he "was fired under pretextual reasons along with Plaintiff Buracker, in part to provide cover for Defendant's pretextual termination of Plaintiff Buracker, and also in retaliation for Plaintiff Longerbeam's disclosures against Defendant and his refusal to isolate and shun Plaintiff Buracker." *Id.* at 39.

The official reason that Shepherd gave for terminating the employment of Petitioners was that they acted improperly in shutting down an under-age drinking party on campus on October 7, 2018. It was alleged that the Petitioners had entered the dorm room without probable cause and had falsified there reports, and it was further alleged that, in a separate incident, Petitioners had improperly targeted these same students in January 6, 2019 traffic stop. There were also a few additional petty complaints inserted into Petitioner's termination letters. However, as will be described in detail below (See Argument Point IV), none of the reasons given held up upon the scrutiny of close examination.

Upon filing the instant Complaint, Defendant moved to dismiss under W.Va. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6), and the Court initially granted said motion. However, following Plaintiffs' responsive Motion to Alter or Amend under Rule 59(e) and Rule 60, the Court amended its ruling as follows:

Upon consideration of the Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) and Rule 60(b)(6) Motion to Alter or Amend, the Court finds it proper to convert the Defendant's May 22, 2020 to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. Accordingly, the Court hereby ORDERS that the Defendant's May 22, 2020 motion to dismiss be converted into a motion for summary judgment. It is further ORDERED that the parties shall have 90 days of discovery from the entry of this order. Within 30 days after the close of discovery, the Defendant may supplement its May 22, 2020 motion, now converted into a motion for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. See Order Converting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss into a Motion for Summary Judgment (AR pg. 320).

Thereafter, discovery commenced, with each party propounding written discovery and taking depositions. Because of COVID-related and other scheduling difficulties from both parties, the timeframe for conducting said depositions (though not written discovery) was extended by agreement multiple times. Thereafter, a hearing was held on June 8, 2022 for oral argument on Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See Transcript from June 8, 2022 Proceedings*. Thereafter, the Court issued two Orders - one in each case - Granting Defendant's motions for summary judgment. *See Order Granting Defendant Shepherd University's Motion to for Summary Judgment* against Donald Buracker ("Buracker Order") (AR pg. 922) and *Order Granting Defendant Shepherd University's Motion to for Summary Judgment* against Jay Longerbeam ("Longerbeam Order") (AR pg. 957). Petitioners then appealed both decisions to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals and moved to consolidate the two appeals into a single action, which was granted by this Court on August 12, 2022. This consolidated perfected appeal brief follows.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Petitioner Buracker's claims under the West Virginia Human Rights Act because it improperly placed itself in the shoes of the jury by weighing the evidence as a fact-finder, ignored key facts submitted by Petitioners, "straw-manned" Petitioners arguments as set forth in their Response Brief on Motion for Summary Judgment, and misconstrued the burden shifting analysis of Plaintiff's evidence of pretext at the summary judgment phase.

The Circuit Court further erred in dismissing both Petitioner Buracker's and Petitioner Longerbeam's claims under the West Virginia Whistleblower Act by improperly placing itself in the shoes of the jury by weighing the evidence as a fact-finder, ignoring key facts submitted by Petitioners, "straw-manning" Petitioners arguments as set forth in their Response Brief on Motion for Summary Judgment, and misconstruing the burden shifting analysis of Plaintiff's evidence of pretext at the summary judgment phase.

The Circuit Court erred in dismissing both Petitioner Buracker's and Petitioner Longerbeam's wrongful discharge claims because it misconstrued the relevant law regarding "duplicative" causes of action and, further, just as in the previously stated assignments of error, erred by improperly placing itself in the shoes of the jury by weighing the evidence as a factfinder, ignoring key facts submitted by Petitioners, "straw-manning" Petitioners arguments as set forth in their Response Brief on Motion for Summary Judgment, and misconstruing the burden shifting analysis of Plaintiff's evidence of pretext at the summary judgment phase.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner's believe this case is ripe for oral argument under Rule of Appellate Procedure 20 because it relates to a matter of public importance and an issue of first impression insomuch as it relates to the question of whether law enforcement agencies violate the public policy of the state of West Virginia by overtly refusing to enforce state laws and punishing officers who attempt to enforce state laws. Although these issues relate to only one assignment of error, the remaining issues of the case are complex and factually voluminous, and so will further be aided by a longer oral argument.

Notwithstanding this issue, should the Court decide that oral argument under Rule 20 is improper, the case would also qualify for oral argument under Rule 19 because it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and involves a result against the clear weight of the evidence.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of "[a] circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56 governs the requirements for summary judgment motions. Rule 56(c) states, in relevant part, that "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

"A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. pt. 3, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). A "genuine issue" is "simply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party. The opposing half of a trial worthy issue is present where the non-moving party can point to one or more disputed "material" facts. A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law. Syl. pt. 5, *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W.Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995). "The party that

moves for summary judgment, has the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of fact and any doubt as to the existence of such issue is resolved against the movant for such judgment". *Smith v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 205 W. Va. 64, 66, 516 S.E.2d 275, 277, (1999). Under *Smith v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 205 W. Va. 64, 66, 516 S.E.2d 275, 277, (1999), "summary judgment is denied even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts in the case but only as to the conclusions to be drawn therefrom."

"A Circuit Court's function at the summary judgment stage is not 'to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial."" *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (W. Va., 1995) (quoting *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby*, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S.Ct. 2505 2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 212 (1986)." As such, "we must draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the most favorable light to the party opposing the motion." *Id.* at 336 (quoting *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S.Ct. 1348 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d 538, 553 (1986); Masinter v. WEBCO Co., 164 W.Va. 241, 262 S.E.2d 433 (1980); Andrick, 187 W.Va. at 708, 421 S.E.2d at 249. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (W. Va., 1995)).

Discrimination and Reprisal under the West Virginia Human Rights Act

The West Va. Human Rights Act ("WVHRA"), W.Va. Code § 5-11-1 et seq., makes it unlawful "For any employer to discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation, hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment if the individual is able and competent to perform the services required even if such individual is blind or disabled," §5-11-9(1). "Discriminate" is defined in §5-11-3 as "to exclude from, or fail or refuse to extend to, a person equal opportunities because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age,

blindness, disability or familial status and includes to separate or segregate." See also Knotts v.

Grafton City Hosp., 237 W. Va. 169, 171, 786 S.E.2d 188, 190 (W. Va. April 14, 2016) In the

instant case, HRA discrimination based upon age and disability are at issue.

In order to make a prima facie case of employment discrimination under the West Virginia Human Rights Act, W.Va. Code § 5-11-1 et seq., the plaintiff must offer proof of the following:

(1) That the plaintiff is a member of a protected class.²

(2) That the employer made an adverse decision concerning the plaintiff.

(3) But for the plaintiff's protected status, the adverse decision would not have been made.

Id. at 175-176.

Additionally,

Because discrimination is essentially an element of the mind, there will probably be very little direct proof available. Direct proof, however, is not required. What is required of the plaintiff is to show some evidence which would sufficiently link the employer's decision and the plaintiff's status as a member of the protected class so as to give rise to an inference that the employment decision was based on an illegal discriminatory criterion. This evidence could, for example, come in the form of . . . a case of unequal or disparate treatment between members of the protected class and others[.]

Id. at 176, 195.

In order to make a case for disparate treatment discrimination under the West Virginia Human Rights Act, a Plaintiff must meet its initial prima facie burden by proving by preponderance of the evidence that (1) he is a member of a group protected by the Act, such as older or disabled persons; (2) that he was discharged, or forced to resign, from employment; and (3) that a nonmember of the protected group was not discipline or was disciplined less severely, than the complainant, though both engaged in similar conduct. *See Young v. Bellofram Corp.*, 227 W.Va.

 $^{^{2}}$ Defendant has not disputed plaintiff's status as disabled or the adverse action of firing plaintiff. Thus prongs 1 and 2 are satisfied.

53, 60-61, 705 S.E.2d 560, 567-68 (2010); *Mayflower Vehicle Systems, Inc. v. Cheeks*, 218 W.Va. 703, 715-16, 629 S.E.2d 762, 774-75 (2006).

The WVHRA further prohibits, at §5-11-9(7), any employer from engaging "in any form of threats or reprisal... the purpose of which is to harass, degrade, embarrass or cause physical harm or economic loss," and further prohibits employers from engaging "in any form of reprisal or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practice of acts forbidden under this article..."

Reprisal under the WVHRA does not require a finding that the Defendant was guilty of the discriminatory conduct first complained of, as a reprisal claim can stand on its own even where a Plaintiff cannot prove that they were the subject of the underlying harassment first complained of. *See Kalany v. Campbell*, 640 S.E.2d 113, 119, 220 W. Va. 50 (W. Va. 2006) ("in those cases where a plaintiff cannot prove that he/she was the subject of sexual harassment, the law nonetheless permits that individual to prove that his/her employer took improper employment-related action against him/her based solely on the reporting of the alleged sexual harassment.").

Retaliation under the West Virginia Whistleblower Law

West Virginia Code § 6C-1-1 et seq., is referred to as the "Whistleblower law," and, at §6C-1-3(a), it provides that "No employer may discharge, threaten, or otherwise discriminate or retaliate against an employee by changing the employee's compensation, terms, conditions, location, or privileges of employment because the employee, acting on his or her own volition, or a person acting on behalf of or under the direction of the employee, makes a good faith report, or is about to report, verbally or in writing, to the employer or appropriate authority, an instance of wrongdoing or waste."

"Wrongdoing" is defined under §6C-1-2 as "a violation which is not of a merely technical or minimal nature of a federal or state statute or regulation, of a political subdivision ordinance or regulation or of a code of conduct or ethics designed to protect the interest of the public or the employer." "Waste" is defined under the same section as "an employer or employee's conduct or omissions which result in substantial abuse, misuse, destruction or loss of funds or resources belonging to or derived from federal, state or political subdivision sources."

W.Va. Code § 6C-1-4(a) provides for a civil remedy in state court "a court of competent jurisdiction," for both injunctive relief and damages within two years after occurrence of the violation. §6C-1-4(b) requires that "An employee alleging a violation of this article must show by a preponderance of the evidence that, prior to the alleged reprisal, the employee, or a person acting on behalf of or under the direction of the employee, had reported or was about to report in good faith, verbally or in writing, an instance of wrongdoing or waste to the employer or an appropriate authority."

Discrimination/Retaliation Burden Shifting under the WVHRA and the Whistleblower Law

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