IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-609

SCA EFiled: Dec 05 2022 06:08PM EST Transaction ID 68510247

JAY LONGERBEAM, Petitioner, Plaintiff Below

> Appeal from the Orders of the Circuit Court for Jefferson County 20-C--52

v.

SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY, Respondent, Defendant Below.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SHEPHERD UNIVERSITY

Shepherd University By Counsel

Tracey B. Eberling, Esquire WV Bar # 6303 Steptoe & Johnson PLLC 1250 Edwin Miller Blvd., Suite 300 Martinsburg, WV 25404 (304) 262-3532 Tracey.eberling@steptoe-johnson.com

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court committed no error. Its decision granting summary judgment to Shepherd University was based on evidence that was not in dispute, and therefore should be affirmed. Ultimately, Petitioner offers nothing more than unsupported allegations and no legal support for his claims against Shepherd University, and that is insufficient to survive summary judgment.

First, the Circuit Court committed no error in ruling that the Petitioner was not entitled to Whistleblower protections because his complaints were not legally-sufficient reports of wrongdoing and lacked temporal proximity to the termination of his employment.

The Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment on the Petitioner's common law claim for wrongful discharge was also proper as he had an adequate statutory remedy to seek redress for his claims of age discrimination and reprisal under the West Virginia Human Rights Act and for retaliation under the Whistleblower Act. Although not specifically addressed in the court's June 21, 2022 order, the general public policy consideration assertion that his employment was terminated in violation of the public policy that law enforcement officers should be allowed to enforce the law and the Shepherd University was required to follow the law, cited by the Petitioner cannot support a claim for wrongful discharge under the well-established law of this State.

Finally, the Circuit Court properly applied the burden-shifting as an alternative basis for relief for the Petitioner's claims and did not impose a burden on the claimant that was inconsistent with the law.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In accordance with West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), oral argument is not necessary on this appeal. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. If the Court chooses to hear oral argument, then argument under Rule 19 is appropriate because this case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law. This appeal is appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under the criteria of West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 21(c) because there was no prejudicial error committed below.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The appellate standard of review on a grant of summary judgment is *de novo. See*, *e.g.*, Syl., *Thompson v. Hatfield*, 225 W. Va. 405, 405, 693 S.E.2d 479, 479 (2010). Summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c). "Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syl. pt. 2, *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995). To survive summary judgment, "the nonmovant must identify specific facts in the record and articulate the precise manner in which that evidence supports its claims." *Harbaugh v. Coffinbarger*, 209 W. Va. 57, 62, 543 S.E.2d 338, 343 (2000).

Recently, in *Butner v. Highlawn Memorial Park Co.*, 2022 WL 17038205, *11 (W.Va. November 17, 2022), this Court revisited the nature of the evidence that may be considered in determining the merit of a summary judgment motion:

The formality required by the rule is consistent with the fact that the stakes are high when a party makes a motion for summary judgment. Put simply, it's "put up or shut up" time for both the proponent and the opponent, who must show that the evidence – not the allegations, but the actual evidence – is either conclusive, meaning there's nothing left for a jury to decide, or disputed, meaning that only a jury can resolve the facts. Pursuant to the rule, this evidence may take the form of affidavits, depositions, or answers to interrogatories, all of which have one critical thing in common: they contain information given on personal knowledge and under oath.

(Citing WVRCP 56). In that case, the transcript of a telephone conversation that was not dated, signed or verified and the court declared that it, as well as the proffer of another witness's testimony in the plaintiff's unverified discovery responses should not have been considered in opposition to the summary judgment motion as they did not meet the standard for authenticity under WVRCP 56(e). Id. at *14. The *Butner* court also adopted a new Syllabus Point, Syllabus Point 6:

6. Unsworn and unverified documents are not of sufficient evidentiary quality to be given weight in a circuit court's determination of whether to grant a motion for summary judgment. However, in its discretion the court may consider an unsworn and unverified document if it is self-authenticating under West Virginia Rule of Evidence 902 or otherwise carries significant indicia of reliability; if it has been signed or otherwise acknowledged as authentic by a person with first-hand knowledge of its contents; or if there has been no objection made to its authenticity.

Self-serving declarations, even when contained in a party's affidavit are not proper evidence to defeat a motion for summary judgment. In *Merrill v. WVDHHR*, 219 W. Va. 151, 632 S.E.2d 307 (2006), the two plaintiffs submitted affidavits declaring that they did not discover that the DHHR had failed to protect them from harm until after they underwent therapy and reviewed DHHR records. In evaluating the evidence supporting the defendant's motion for summary judgment, the court noted that the record did not contain affidavits corroborating the plaintiffs' assertions. The court declared that "self-serving assertions without factual support in the record will not defeat a motion for summary judgment." (Citations omitted) Id. at 160-61, 316-17. The court concluded that:

In this case, [plaintiffs] have utterly failed to provide any supporting affidavits to corroborate their self-serving statements, and have further failed to "identify specific facts in the record and articulate the precise manner in which that evidence supports [their] claims" of delay in discovering the causal connection between their injuries and DHHR's actions. Id. Accordingly, they have not established the existence of a genuine issue of material fact with respect to their knowledge of a causal connection between their injury and DHHR's actions.

Id. See also Gibson v. Little General Stores, 221 W. Va. 360, 362, 655 S.E.2d 106, 108 (2007)(plaintiff's "self-serving statements and conclusory affidavit based upon unsupported speculation" was insufficient evidence to rebut defendant's motion for summary judgment); *Hooshyar v. Sovastion*, 2013 WL 3242788 (W. Va,. 2013)(lack of corroborating evidence supporting plaintiff's self-serving affidavit warranted summary judgment for defendant).

B. Introduction

As to each of his points of error, Petitioner Longerbeam claims that the trial court "placed itself in the position of the jury by weighing evidence", "ignored key facts", and "straw-manned him." Petitioner's brief fails to identify how the trial court committed these alleged errors. Nothing offered by this Petitioner warrants reversal of the grant of summary judgment to the Respondent.

C. The Circuit Court Committed No Error in Granting Summary Judgment on Petitioner's Whistleblower Claim

The Petitioner contended below that Shepherd University violated the West Virginia Whistleblower Protection Act by "discharging, discrimination, and retaliating against him for his good faith reports of wrongdoing and waste." In discovery, the Petitioner testified that he believes that he is a whistleblower based on three facts, one of which theories was abandoned in his response to the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. Summary judgment was properly granted on his remaining two theories.

The West Virginia Whistleblower Act provides that "[n]o employer may discharge an employee ... because the employee, acting on his own volition ... makes a good faith report or is about to report, verbally or in writing, to the employer or appropriate authority an instance of wrongdoing or waste." W.Va. Code § 6C-1-3(a). According to the West Virginia Code:

An employee alleging a violation of this article must show by a preponderance of the evidence that, prior to the alleged reprisal, the employee, or a person acting on behalf of or under the direction of the employee, had reported or was about to report in good faith, verbally or in writing, an instance of wrongdoing or waste to the employer or an appropriate authority.

W.Va. Code § 6C-1-4(b).

The definition of certain terms is critical here. "Whistle-blower' means a person who witnesses or has evidence of wrongdoing or waste while employed with a public body and who makes a good faith report of, or testifies to, the wrongdoing or waste, verbally or in writing, to one of the employee's superiors, to an agent of the employer or to an

appropriate authority." W.Va. Code § 6C-1-2(g). "Appropriate authority' means a federal, state, county or municipal government body, agency or organization having jurisdiction over criminal law enforcement, regulatory violations, professional conduct or ethics, or waste; or a member, officer, agent, representative or supervisory employee of the body, agency or organization. The term includes, but is not limited to, the office of the attorney general, the office of the state auditor, the commission on special investigations, the Legislature and committees of the Legislature having the power and duty to investigate criminal law enforcement, regulatory violations, professional conduct or ethics, or waste." Id. at (a) "Good faith report" means a report of conduct defined in this article as wrongdoing or waste which is made without malice or consideration of personal benefit and which the person making the report has reasonable cause to believe is true." Id. at (d). "Waste' means an employer or employee's conduct or omissions which result in substantial abuse, misuse, destruction or loss of funds or resources belonging to or derived from federal, state or political subdivision sources." Id. at (f). "Wrongdoing' means a violation which is not of a merely technical or minimal nature of a federal or state statute or regulation, of a political subdivision ordinance or regulation or of a code of conduct or ethics designed to protect the interest of the public or the employer." Id. at (h).

The anti-retaliations provision of the Act declares: [n]o employer may discharge, threaten or otherwise discriminate or retaliate against an employee by changing the employee's compensation, terms, conditions, location or privileges of employment because the employee, acting on his own volition, or a person acting on behalf of or under the direction of the employee, makes a good faith report or is about to report, verbally or in writing, to the employer or appropriate authority an instance of wrongdoing or waste. W. Va. Code 6C-1-3(a).

Employers have a safe harbor for employment decisions taken with regard to possible whistleblowers. The West Virginia Code specifies that "[i]t shall be a defense to an action . . . if the defendant proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the action complained of occurred for separate and legitimate reasons, which are not merely pretexts." W.Va. Code § 6C-1-4(c).

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has declared "[i]t is . . . implicit in our statutory scheme that the purpose of a report of wrongdoing or waste is, in fact, germane to determining whether an employee has engaged in activity protected thereunder." *Taylor v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human* Resources, 237 W.Va. 549, 788 S.E.2d 295, 309-310 (2016). In *Bee v. West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals*, 2013 WL 5967045 (W.Va. Nov. 8, 2013) (unpublished), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals emphasized that "wrongdoing" includes "violations of any statute or rule". Similarly, the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia recognized the statutory definition of wrongdoing, stating "[t]he Court agrees that Austin has failed to show 'wrongdoing' within the meaning of the statute, as she has failed to point to any law, regulation, or code of ethics the Commission violated." *Austin v. Preston County Com'n*, 2014 WL 5148581 (N.D. W.Va. Oct. 14, 2014) (unpublished).

1. Petitioner's questioning the propriety of a Magistrate Court process for handling minor criminal offenses of students is not a "report" of wrongdoing nor was it causally related based on timing.

Petitioner is not entitled to Whistle-blower Act protection for expressing his concerns about the manner in which certain criminal charges against Shepherd University students were addressed by Magistrate Boober for several reasons.

First, as noted by the Court at argument, the duly elected Magistrate Gail Boober is "a constitutional officer and conducts her court in the way she sees fit." (A.R. at 1035) Petitioner's counsel acknowledged that no statement under oath had been provided from a student or parent concerning the asserted denial of the right for his or her day in court. (A.R. at 1034). It was conceded that the complaint about the process had been made only to Chief McAvoy. The trial court observed that while complaints may have been made to the Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney and a Circuit Court Judge, neither would have had the authority to take corrective action against a magistrate who exceeded her authority. (A.R. at 1039-40). Petitioner cited no statute or regulation that was violated by Shepherd University that in working with an elected Magistrate to establish a process that allows students to perform community service and having certain types of charges dismissed. The informal resolution process did not require the students to enter a plea of guilt or no contest to the offense. Even if there was a legal basis for his belief, the conduct at issue was that of an elected magistrate. Petitioner has no knowledge of how the Magistrate would make the decision to offer community service and what, if any, role Shepherd played in the process.

2. Petitioner's Assertions in Climate Survey Meeting Is Also Not A Report

In addition to the propriety of the alternative disposition process for student criminal charges, the Petitioner claims that his "disclosures at the interdepartmental police meeting" was improperly discounted by the Circuit Court. Petitioner simply argues that there is a causal connection between his report and his termination because he made complaints of wrongdoing. This is not a logically supported conclusion. Moreover, Petitioner conflates the deposition testimony that is part of the record to a disclosure of "waste in terms of the mismanagement of the state funded Shepherd University Police Department." The memo does not aid his assertions as the document is unsigned and undated and there is no evidence that it was "circulated."

The Respondent demonstrated through uncontested sworn testimony that the none of the complaints offered by the officers in the climate survey meetings and ultimately contained in the report was not attributed to any of the officers who made them. Petitioner instead simply argued that the trial court erred in concluding that a causal connection between his statement and his termination could not be made.

Background as to the cause for the meeting bears explanation. Sergeant Lori Maraugha was covering for Chief McAvoy while he was on vacation in January of 2019. Sgt. Maraugha received a number of written concerns about the manner in which Donald Buracker was treating his fellow officers. She provided this information to Ms. Frye. Ms. Frye communicated with Dr. DeWalt, who arranged for a series of meetings with each officer in the department by the HR Director and the University Ombudsperson, Professor Karen Green. A report was generated by Dr. DeWalt and Professor Green: the comments contained therein were not attributed to any officer. In fact, Dr. DeWalt testified that all notes from the interviews of the members of the police department were all shredded when the final report was prepared. Since the Petitioner's comments, even if deemed to have risen to the level to be considered a report of waste or wrongdoing, no connection can be made when the critical personnel were unaware that the Petitioner had even made such a report.

3. Adverse Action

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